2-17-2015

Chadwick v. Multi-State Electric, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42473

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND ISSUES ON APPEAL

Scott Chadwick appeals the final order of the Idaho Industrial Commission regarding his workers compensation claims. He asserts that the Referee/Commission erred in the following particulars:

1. In finding that Claimant's notifications of injuries to Defendant were untimely.
2. In failing to order Defendants to provide requested discovery to Claimant.
3. In failing to correctly read a medical document resulting in a presumption of facts that were erroneous and by making findings based upon those erroneous facts.
4. In failing to separately consider medical treatment related to two separate injuries.
5. In making unauthorized and unsupported medical findings contrary to the unrefuted conclusions of medical practitioners.
6. By denying Complainant's request for a hearing before a full commission.

The Commission replicated and adopted the Referee's erroneous Findings of Fact and issued its own Findings of Fact and Order on May 20, 2014 denying Appellant's claim(s). A request for reconsideration submitted by Claimant was subsequently denied.

CASE HISTORY

On or about May 29, 2012 Claimant/Appellant sustained an injury to his back in the course and scope of his employment with Defendant. This injury episode may at times herein be referred to as the "truck incident." Claimant advised Defendant employer of this event within a few days if not hours of its occurrence in compliance with Defendant's "Company Policy"

regarding emergencies wherein it states to “Always notify the owner about even the slightest injury.” (Exhibit B page 11).

Defendant offered treatment at his son’s new chiropractic office, Pre-Hab Chiropractic, with the proviso that one-half the costs be deducted from Claimant’s pay checks. This is Defendant engaging in “Balance Billing” as defined in Idaho Code section 72-102(2) as prohibited by Idaho Code section 72-432(6). Claimant believed that offer to be an unethical violation of Defendant’s duty to provide reasonable medical treatment in accordance with Idaho Code Section 72-432(1). It also is evidence of character and conduct (IRE 608) of Defendant and his truthfulness. Claimant declined Defendant’s offer and went to Kuna Chiropractic.

Claimant continued working and a second injurious event occurred on Thursday, July 26, 2012. At about that time Claimant had been working with both a scissor lift and a trencher. Claimant did not immediately realize that he had suffered a second injury. However, painful symptoms started occurring within hours after that event. Prior to the weekend of August 4, 2012 Claimant had repeatedly advised Defendant about his worsening back condition via text messages, telephone calls and direct conversation. Claimant continued to notify Defendant thereafter with varying frequency depending on the recurrence of symptoms. (Exhibit D pages 82-97)

As a result of his own investigation, near the end of September 2012 Claimant first confirmed a connection between his worsening back and leg pain and his working with a trencher on July 26, 2012. He, therefore, informed Surety of the trencher related incident and its connection to his latest symptoms. This second injury episode may hereinafter be referred to as

the “trencher incident.” Defendant subsequently made a second offer of medical treatment to Claimant at Pre-Hab Chiropractic for the trencher incident, this time with the proviso that Defendant would pay expenses not paid by Surety. Claimant, however, returned to Kuna Chiropractic because of his prior history with that clinic. Claimant still believed there was impropriety on Defendant’s part with regard to such referral if not an actual conflict of interest.

Claimant’s pain increased in both frequency and severity. Dr. Rosenlund of Kuna Chiropractic referred Claimant to Primary Health Clinic. On September 6, 2012 Dr. Martinez, Director of Occupational Medicine at Primary Health, requested an MRI for Claimant. However, on September 14, 2012 Surety filed a “Change of Status” essentially closing their case and terminating their payment for further medical treatment, i.e., the MRI. (Exhibit D page 121, EI pages 201-202)

Defendant had knowledge of Claimant’s injuries and had failed to file reports as required by 72-602(1), Idaho Code. This should have tolled Claimant’s limitations and extended Surety’s obligation to continue paying for his medical treatment per 72-604, Idaho Code. These actions by Defendant and Surety precluded Claimant from obtaining an MRI at the earliest possible date as requested by Dr. Martinez.

Claimant thereafter pursued treatment with other doctors and medical clinics including McKim’s Chiropractic and Dr. Rick’s Advantage Chiropractic. Claimant also later relented and felt compelled to seek treatment at Pre-Hab Chiropractic as well as with Defendant’s massage therapist notwithstanding his ethical concerns.

On October 8, 2012 Dr. Rosenlund of Kuna Chiropractic referred Claimant to Intermountain Medical Imaging where an MRI was conducted that day at Claimant's expense. (Exhibit E pages 187-188) The results of that MRI were available on October 9, 2012. Claimant later received notice that his claim had been formally denied by Surety on October 16, 2012. Claimant kept a previously scheduled appointment with Dr. Martinez where the MRI was reviewed. Dr. Martinez referred Claimant to the Spine Institute. Because Surety had already denied Claimant's claim, the Spine Institute would not treat Claimant without him paying \$300 at the time of service. Claimant thereafter continued seeking relief via prescribed pain medications at his own expense. (Exhibit E1 199)

On October 26, 2012 Claimant received a derogatory e-mail from Defendant (Exhibit D-1, pages 134 – 136). On November 6, 2012 Claimant sent a letter to Surety detailing the trencher incident (Exhibit D, pages 127 – 131) along with supporting documents (Exhibits D, pages 110 and 111).

Sometime thereafter, Claimant's prescription for pain medication ran out and Claimant sought treatment at other medical facilities for his ongoing severe back and leg pain. At that time he was unable to stand up for more than a few minutes at a time. (Exhibit EIII page 212)

Claimant was provided with an additional pain relief protocol at St. Luke's Occupation Health and Spine Wellness Center and was declared "off work" until further notice. He was also referred to St. Luke's Elks Rehab in Nampa for a detailed evaluation. The reports from St. Luke's Elks Rehab and other medical facilities that provided detailed information regarding

Claimant's condition were not remarked upon by the Referee. (Exhibit EIV pages 216, 219 and EV pages 220, 226)

Notwithstanding their receipt of the information contained in Claimant's letter of November 6, 2012, on December 27, 2012 Surety sent a letter to Claimant confirming their denial of his claim (See Exhibit D, page 133). Over a treatment period of 18 months Claimant was eventually able to wean himself off pain medications. However, the residual effects of the injuries have not ended and a final medial evaluation has never been conducted.

ARGUMENT

Issue A: Timely notification of injuries

Claimant continuously provided notice and updates on his condition to Defendant as stated above. In reporting his injuries to Defendant, Claimant did not necessarily use the word "accident" but did convey information regarding work related events that Claimant absolutely believed were causing him back pain. (Exhibit D pages 82-97)

Defendant later acknowledged having been informed of Claimant's back pains and or injuries without recalling the when, where or how he acquired such knowledge. Defendant's two offers of medical treatment at Pre-Hab Chiropractic immediately following notices by Claimant constituted tacit admissions by the Defendant that he had in fact been notified of and had knowledge of Claimant's injuries and their work-related nature. The Referee's Findings of Fact show on page 5 in paragraph 8 that Defendant claims to not have been notified of the May 2012 injury until September 2012. However, on page 6 in paragraph 15 the Findings of Fact show that

Defendant was aware of the May 2012 incident at least as early as August 16, 2012. Defendant's statements are inconsistent in the record.

The manner by which notice of injury must be given to an employer is not specified. Paulson v. Idaho Forest Industries, 99 Idaho 896, 591 P.2d 143 (1979). Mere "...notice to or knowledge of the occurrence of accident causing an injury....on the part of the employer shall be deemed notice or knowledge...." Idaho Code Section 72-307. A notice given under the provisions of section 72-701 or section 72-448, Idaho Code, shall not be held invalid or insufficient by reason of any inaccuracy in stating the time, place, nature or cause of the injury or disease, or otherwise, unless it is shown by the employer that he was in fact prejudiced thereby. Idaho Code section 72-704.

Claimant contacted Surety directly on August 24, 2012 because Defendant failed to take appropriate action of a workers compensation nature, i.e., make a First Report of Injury or initiate an investigation. Claimant told Defendant that he had contacted Surety directly. It was not until after being so informed that Defendant actually completed a First Report of Injury, (Exhibit D page 98). This delay by Defendant constituted a failure to comply with 10-day reporting requirement of Idaho Code section 72-602.

Defendant also prepared a letter dated August 27, 2012 (Exhibit 6) stating that Claimant's injury was not work related. For want of any investigative information that letter is nothing more than an unsubstantiated self-serving assertion. Defendant sent both the letter and the First Report of Injury to Surety a full 21 days after Claimant was unable to work, a failure to comply with the one-day reporting requirement of Idaho Code section 72-602.

The Defendant's First Report of Injury is devoid of any investigative information. Several of the boxes on the form were left blank. No investigation by Defendant is documented anywhere in the record, when where or how.

A claimant is not required to establish a specific time and place of injury. Hazen v. Gen. Store, 111 Idaho 972, 729 P.2d 1035 (1986). Rather, an accident need only be reasonably located as to the time when and the place where it occurred. Spivey v. Novartis Seed, Inc., 137 Idaho 29, 43 P.3d 788 (2002). Because Defendant neither investigated nor communicated with Claimant, Claimant believed that he needed to document the event himself. He was able to provide details pertaining to the trencher incident to Surety in a letter dated November 6, 2012 (Exhibit D, pages 127-131).

On pages 10 and 11 in paragraph 32 of her Findings of Fact the referee assumes the worst of Claimant because claimant is doing the work which was the duty of Defendant, i.e., conducting an investigation. She further accuses Claimant of attempting to fabricate injuries to justify his medical treatment, a specious allegation at best. The Referee's contorted view of the facts based on her misreading a medical document is exemplified in her comments on page 11 at the end of paragraph 33 in her Findings in asserting Claimant's injuries to a subsequent "reconstruction" of his activities.

Defendant was not prejudiced by the manner in which he was given notice by Claimant; however, Claimant has been grievously prejudiced by the reticence of Defendant to initiate any semblance of an investigation upon first being advised at work that Claimant was suffering pain as a result of work activities. Claimant's investigative efforts were not appreciated by the

Referee but conversely were discredited by her. The findings of the Referee and Commission that timely notice was not given with regard to both injuries should be reversed.

Issue B: Failure to order production of discovery

The Defendants failed to provide the Claimant with all the information and relevant evidence requested on numerous occasions by Claimant, including, but not limited to, recorded statements, communications, phone records, text messages and e-mails between Claimant and Defendant and also between Claimant and Surety not protected by the attorney/client privilege or the work product doctrine. Defendants failed to produce the requested records in a complete and timely manner prior to the hearing of this case.

Surety recorded three telephone calls wherein Claimant gave statements regarding his injuries. The first recording was made on August 30, 2012. The second recording was made in mid-September 2012. The third recording was taken on September 26, 2012 at the time of Claimant's interview with Surety's investigator. Claimant requested copies of those three statements on September 28, 2012 (See Exhibit D, page 113). Defendant declined that request on October 18, 2012 (Exhibit D, page 126).

Claimant later made the same request in his interrogatories to Defendant; however, Defendant invoked "privilege" in refusing to provide the recordings. Claimant asserts here that his own statements are not privileged to Defendant and that they do not constitute the "work product" of the Defendant and his counsel.

At the pre-trial hearing Claimant again requested that the recordings be produced. The Referee stated that that was not the appropriate time to address that issue. Referee's failure to address discovery at the pre-trial hearing is a violation of Rule 8, part A6, of the Judicial Rules of Practice and Procedure wherein it provides for the discussion of discovery issues at prehearings. The Defendant entered Claimant's third recorded statement as evidence at the hearing. Because Claimant was not provided with copies of all three recorded statements, he was precluded at the hearing from introducing at the hearing other recorded statements which ought in fairness to have been considered contemporaneously with the third recording as required by Rule 106, Idaho Rules of Evidence. As such, this matter should be reversed and/or remanded.

Issue C: Misread evidence and erroneous findings

The Referee misread the hand writing of Claimant on one of Claimant's medical intake forms. Based on her own mistake the Referee formed the erroneous opinion that Claimant had provided wrong information regarding the date of his second (trencher) injury. Also, based on this erroneous conclusion the Referee formed the opinion that Claimant "most likely intentionally omitted reporting the May 2012 injury to the claims investigator." Further, based on her erroneous conclusion the Referee found that it was "unlikely Claimant would have forgotten this information." The Referee misread a document, formed erroneous conclusions based on her own error, and made erroneous findings based thereon.

Here's what happened. Exhibits "I" and "J", Claimant's color coded calendars, clearly show the dates and history of medical treatment. The Referee did not compare the information

contained in those exhibits against her interpretation of Claimant's notes in Dr. McKim's "New Patient History" form. On page 6 in paragraph 14 of her Findings of Fact the Referee refers to Claimant stating that his symptoms restarted "4 weeks ago." Yet on page 9 in paragraph 24 she re-cites Claimant as having reported symptoms coming on gradually for "four weeks."

In both instances the Referee incorrectly quotes Claimant's note by putting the word "week" in the plural form "weeks." In fact, Dr. McKim Chiropractic's "New Patient History" questionnaire shows that Claimant answered that "pain started 'A' week ago." Claimant's printing on the medical questionnaire is in the singular "week" form and not in the plural "weeks" form. Further, Claimant's printing of the capital letter "A" was misread as a number "4" by the Referee. The Referee did not recognize the inconsistency between a plural number and a word written in the singular. She merely assumed that the word should have been in the plural because she believed that the letter "A" was the number "4." The Referee stated that the trencher incident could not have happened on July 26, 2012 because of her belief that it was "4" weeks ago instead of "A week ago."

The misreading of that document by the Referee created an error in the record and convoluted the evidence provided by the Claimant with regard to the date of his second injury and dates associated with medical treatment. Both the Referee and Commission relied upon this error in disputing Claimant's injury timeline. This mistake was also a major factor upon which the Referee relied in stating in paragraph 35 of her Findings that the Claimant's testimony "lacks credibility and is unpersuasive." Claimant attempted to file an appeal with the Commission

intending to bring this error to its attention; however, the Commission rejected his efforts in this regard.

When the Court reviews a decision from the Industrial Commission, it exercises free review over questions of law but reviews questions of fact only to determine whether substantial and competent evidence supports the Commission's findings. Ogden v. Thompson, 128 Idaho 87, 88, 910 P.2d 759, 760 (1996). The Commission's conclusions on the credibility and weight of evidence will not be disturbed unless the conclusions are clearly erroneous. Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Co., 132 Idaho 513, 515, 975 P.2d 1178, 1180 (1999).

This is exactly Claimant's point. The Referee's conclusions were clearly erroneous. When a conclusion on credibility or fact is based on erroneous information the conclusion itself is inherently substantially incompetent. The court may set aside an order that is not based on substantial competent evidence. Section 72-732(1), Idaho Code. As such, it must be reversed or remanded for reconsideration based on correct information.

Claimant recognizes that he has the burden of showing that his medical condition was related to work as all of the unrefuted medical records in evidence proclaim. However, the medical evidence was discredited by the Referee simply by her reliance on the inherently erroneous conclusions referred to above. The Commission adopted the Referee's erroneous conclusions. There are no medical records in evidence refuting the work related nature of Claimant's injuries. As such, the medical records must be deemed credible in their statements regarding the work related nature of Claimant's injuries. If the findings of the commission are

not supported by substantial and competent evidence they are not binding and conclusive and should be appealed for review. Dean v. Dravo Corp., 95 Idaho 558, 562, 511 P.2d 1334 (1973).

As stated above, the findings and conclusions of the Referee and Commission were based on erroneous information resulting from a misreading of a medical intake form. Several findings of the Referee were founded basically on this misreading which gave the Referee inaccurate information. Inaccurate information by its very nature is incompetent evidence and any ruling or finding based thereon should as a matter of law be reversed. The court may take notice of plain errors affecting substantial rights even though they may not have been brought to the attention of the Referee or Commission. Rule 103(d), Idaho Rules of Evidence.

Issue D: Failure to separately consider medical treatment of two separate injuries

In footnote #1 on page 3 of the Findings of Fact and Order, the Commission states “This case is an anomaly because it addresses two potential industrial accidents within a single case....Claimant’s claims are treated herein no differently than if two separate cases had been consolidated.” Even though the Commission discusses the May 29, 2012 (truck) incident and the July 26, 2012 (trencher) incident separately, the Commission failed to distinguish the medical treatment received for each of these two events. The Findings of Fact/Order fails to note the separation of treatment for the May 29th injury ending on June 26, 2012 and treatment for the Thursday, July 26th injury commencing on Monday, July 30, 2012. Claimant’s back condition deteriorated during the four-day period between July 26th and July 30th.

The court can see on Exhibit J at page 5 that yellow highlighted treatment dates following the May 29th (truck) injury ended on June 26, 2012 and that there are no more treatment dates highlighted in yellow until Monday, July 30, 2012, that being four days after the July 26th (trencher) injury and 34 days after the last treatment solely related to the May 29th (truck) injury. Defendant wrote in his First Report of Injury that Claimant's injury occurred on the weekend of August 4, 2012. Exhibit J shows that there were three treatments prior to that weekend. As such, Defendant's statement as to the date of the trencher incident was incorrect, if not intentionally falsified so as to mislead Surety.

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