# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-17-2015

## Chadwick v. Multi-State Electric, LLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42473

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

Arel v. T&L Enterprises, Inc., 146 Idaho 29, 189 P.3d 1149 (2008).

### C. The Commission Did Not Err in Finding That No Accident Occurred in July 2012.

The Industrial Commission reviewed all of the factual background and medical evidence, and concluded that there was no industrial accident on July 26, 2012. The Commission stated:

Contemporaneous medical records fail to reflect that Claimant gave a history regarding this incident, and the incident itself does not figure in the September 26, 2012 recorded statement taken by Surety's investigator. We find that the evidence fails to establish that such an event occurred. More so than with the alleged

accident of May 26, 2012, Claimant's assertion that such an accident occurred is not the product of his memory of an inciting event, but is rather the result of his subsequent reconstruction of his activities at or around the time his low-back condition progressed to the point that he was no longer able to work.

(R, p. 24). This conclusion is supported by substantial and credible evidence.

Claimant cannot bear his burden of proving that there was any July 26 trencher accident. Indeed, the medical records are to the contrary. Claimant went to Kuna Chiropractic Clinic for his regular "maintenance" a few days after the alleged trencher incident. (R, Defs Exh, p. 9). There is absolutely no mention of any new incident or accident or injury, even though the trencher incident allegedly occurred only a few days prior. Just as significantly, there is absolutely no mention of any trencher incident or accident or specific injury in the records of the Primary Health Medical Group immediately after July 26, 2012. To the contrary, for many visits the notes denied any acute injury or any accident. Indeed, the August 6, 2012 note from Dr. Weiss states: "does not recall recent injury or strain." (R, Defs Exh, p. 13). Dr. Weiss also noted that Claimant had chronic back pain for many years and denied an acute injury. (Id.). Claimant visited two separate chiropractors and said not a word about an accident or acute injury to them either. (R, Defs Exh, pp. 10 & 44). When he returned to Primary Health Medical Group and saw Mr. Soares on August 17, 2012, Claimant complained of "Old injury cumulative injury" and denied an acute injury. (Id.). Even when Claimant went to Dr. Martinez to try to get the case established as a workers' compensation case, he acknowledged "no falls or trauma, but feels that repetitive lifting and bending activities while on the job is the cause of his back pain. He states

that he was seen recently at urgent care and claimed that it was not a work-related condition, but now he feels that it is indeed a work related condition." (*Id.* p. 19).

The reality of this situation is that, as the Claimant himself acknowledges, and as he stated to the State Insurance Fund investigator, there was no specific accident but rather an accumulation of problems from 25 or 30 years of heavy labor working for the Employer and previous employers. "The injured worker must do more than show an onset of pain while at work in order to sustain his or her burden of proving an event or mishap occurred." *McGee*, 135 Idaho at 335, 17 P.3d at 279 (quoting *Perez v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 120 Idaho 435, 438, 816 P.2d 992, 995 (1991)).

Claimant may have been able to retroactively point to an onset of pain sometime in late July or early August, but this is insufficient under the workers' compensation statute:

Although an accident may and usually does cause the onset of pain, "an accident" under the workers' compensation law is not simply the onset of pain. ... To establish that a mishap or event occurred, an injured worker must do more than show an onset of pain while at work. ... Workers' compensation is not meant or intended to be life or health insurance; it is purely accident and occupational disease insurance. ... The elimination of the accident requirement would transform workers' compensation into health insurance. Any such change in the law is the province of the legislature, not this Court or the Industrial Commission.

The Industrial Commission found that the hard work performed by the claimant in March and August 1997 constituted an accident that aggravated her pre-existing osteoarthritis. Hard work is not an accident.... In this case, there is no evidence of an unexpected, undesigned, and unlooked for mishap, or untoward event other than the onset of symptoms from claimant's pre-existing condition. That is not sufficient to constitute an accident under the workers' compensation law.

Konvalinka v. Bonneville County, 140 Idaho 477, 479, 95 P.3d 628, 630 (2004).

D. The Commission Did Not Err in Finding that the Claimant Had Not Proven that Any Incident Produced an Injury.

A claimant has the burden of not only proving that an untoward mishap/event occurred, but also must prove that the incident produced violence to the physical structure of his body. Idaho Code § 72-102(18). "The Claimant in a worker's compensation case carries the burden of proving that the condition for which compensation is sought is causally related to an industrial accident." *Duncan v. Navajo Trucking*, 134 Idaho 202, 203, 998 P.2d 1114, 1116 (2000). The Commission found that a May 2012 event might have occurred (despite the evidence to the contrary), but concluded that even if a May incident occurred the Claimant had not met his burden of demonstrating that this incident caused damage to the physical structure of his body:

A. My opinion. (Tr p. 70, ll. 4-7).

He acknowledged that he went to the chiropractor for "maintenance" of his chronic low back pain. His wife did not remember any accident in May of 2012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Commission found that an accident or event may have occurred in late May ("whether on May 26, May 29 or some other date in late May, we cannot determine") (R at 24), based on Kuna Chiropractic and Dr. Rosenlund's records. That conclusion, however, is not supported by the evidence.

Claimant admits both in his deposition and to the State Insurance Fund investigator that there was no accident in May of 2012. Indeed, he admitted as much at the Hearing. While Kuna Chiropractic's note suggests the Claimant's low back was injured when he "jumped" out of a truck at work, Claimant acknowledges that he never said this to the chiropractor but instead said his back began to hurt (more than the usual aches and pains he always experienced) as a result of being busy at work, walking with a tool belt and getting in and out of his truck. His testimony was:

Q: So, that's what you discussed about this May incident, which was --gradually started hurting because you started working hard.

Importantly, Claimant himself has no conviction whatsoever that this incident produced an injury. He did not describe a sudden worsening of symptomatology following this incident, and although Dr. Rosenlund appears to attribute some part of Claimant's symptomatology to the event described, we do not believe that this chart note, to the extent that it might be viewed as the expression of an opinion on the issue of causation, rests upon an adequate foundation. We conclude that Claimant has failed to meet his burden of proving that the accident of May 26, 2012 caused damage to the physical structure of his body.

Even if it be assumed that the July 2012 incident occurred as alleged by Claimant, we find, as well, that the evidence fails to establish that this incident caused damage to the physical structure of Claimant's body.

Dr. Manos opined in a chart note on July 30, 2013 that lifting a trencher could have caused Claimant's L4-5 disc herniation. His opinion states a possibility, but it is insufficient to establish, to a reasonable medical probability, that lifting a trencher to attach it to a truck hitch on July 26, 2012 caused this injury. Claimant has failed to prove by a preponderance of evidence that he suffered workplace accidents resulting in injury.

(R pp. 24-25).

This conclusion is supported by the evidence discussed above. Claimant testified that he did not have a May accident and never told the chiropractor he had any accident. Indeed, he did not recall a May incident until after he started renewing medical records in August. He did not tell his physician immediately after the alleged July incident that he even had had an accident in May and instead stated he has had "chronic back pain for many years." (R Defs Exh, p.13).

Similarly, there is no proof of any accident in July or August. Certainly there is no proof that any "condition" was caused by the alleged accident or that Claimant suffered an "injury" as defined by the worker's compensation statute.

### E. The Commission Did Not Err in Finding Claimant Had Not Provided Notice of Either Incident.

The Commission analyzed all of the written evidence and considered the testimony and recorded statement of the Claimant and concluded that Claimant's claim failed for lack of proper notice. This conclusion is not clear error but is supported by the record.

There is absolutely no evidence that Claimant informed the Employer or Surety of any claimed accident of May 2012. Again, Claimant's testimony at Hearing and in his deposition and his statement to the State Insurance Fund investigator make clear that while at most he may have informed Mr. Baker that his back was bothering him, he never informed anyone at the Employer about a claimed accident. Indeed, he appeared to forget there was any "accident" in May when making a claim for an alleged July accident until after he had received copies of past medical records and noticed that his chiropractor had put down on the chart note an entry regarding "jumped out of truck at work." It was only after reviewing this document that Claimant even suggested any type of belief that he had suffered an accident in May. Obviously he could not have given notice when he did not even think there was an accident.

Claimant's testimony at hearing is also instructive. The Referee asked him about the alleged May incident:

- Q. Okay. Well what happened? What happened to create your condition?
- A. The original incident, I believe, was stepping, jumping out of my work van or our work trailer that hauls our scissor lift to jobs. The exact date is unclear of what day it happened, because of the dates that were written down of May 26<sup>th</sup> and

May 29<sup>th</sup>. That May 26<sup>th</sup> actually falls on a Saturday and I don't have any evidence saying that I actually worked on that Saturday or if – when I worked, what location it was, and only through the doctor's notes to – let's see, May, June, July, August, September – <u>four months later that I learned what I had said to a doctor</u> when the medical evidence was requested by the defendant, State Insurance Fund.

- Q. So, do you remember what you said to the doctor?
- A. Only after reading his statement. I don't I told him I don't know exactly how I got hurt at work. I told him I didn't fall off a trailer and break my leg, because it wasn't that kind of event. It was you know, they say industrial accident, I say I hurt myself. I wouldn't go to Brad and say I had an accident today, my back hurts, or I'm sore today. I wouldn't have done that.

(Tr. p. 21, ll. 5-25, p. 22, l. 1).

Mr. Baker's testimony at hearing was quite clear and consistent that the Employer was not informed of any claimed May accident until September or October of 2012, months after the May "accident" allegedly occurred. Claimant's testimony at hearing was much less consistent and much less credible. His other statements are replete with comments that he admitted that he did not tell the Employer of any particular incident or accident in late May of 2012. This is reinforced by the fact that the Claimant paid for the chiropractic "maintenance" on his own and never requested the Employer to pay or submitted any type of notice or demand for reimbursement from the workers' compensation system until at least late September.

Claimant also failed to give notice of any "trencher incident" for more than sixty days. While Claimant did notify the Employer that his low back was hurting in August and that he traced it to continuing strenuous activity at his employment, he never gave written notice of any

alleged incident involving a trencher until months later and only after he was asked repeatedly by the State Insurance Fund about how his injury occurred. The medical records and the recorded interview of Claimant show that only after mid-October 2012, more than sixty days after the alleged July accident, did the Claimant even mention orally a trencher incident. Indeed, Claimant testified at hearing that "as I stated before I didn't know exactly when, where, and how [the alleged accident] happened when I spoke to many doctors. ..." (Tr. p. 34, Il. 18-21; *see also* p. 35, Il. 8-17). This delay prejudiced the Defendants in investigating the claim and directing medical treatment.

The Commission found that Claimant first provided Defendants written notice of his alleged July 26, 2012 industrial accident in an email dated November 6, 2012, 103 days after the alleged industrial accident. (R p. 26). It found that he had never previously notified his Employer, Brad Baker, of a specific accident. It found that Claimant had never provided notice of any alleged May 29, 2012 at least until August 2012 after he had reviewed the past medical records. (*Id.*) This is supported by the fact that Claimant himself did not believe he had a "accident" in May 2012 and acknowledged that the first time he even concluded that he had suffered an "accident" was after reviewing his medical records in August or September to try to make a claim.

The Commission then went on to consider the issue of prejudice. Under Idaho Code §72-104, a claimant must establish that his failure to give proper statutory notice has not prejudiced the employer. Claimant must affirmatively prove that the employer was not prejudiced by the

lack of timely notice. *Jackson v. JST Manufacturing*, 142 Idaho 836, 136 P.3d 307 (2006). The Claimant did not even attempt to meet his burden.

To the contrary, Claimant's failure to provide timely notice hampered Defendants' ability to investigate the validity of the claim(s) and hampered their ability to provide reasonable medical treatment if there had been an industrial accident. The Commission's conclusion that Claimant had failed to meet his burden of proving that Defendants were not prejudiced by his delays in reporting his claimed industrial accidents is supported by the record.

#### F. The McKim Report.

Claimant claims that the Commission misread evidence by misreading the "new patient history" form from his visit with chiropractor McKim on August 13, 2012. The Claimant claims that his writing should have been read to say that his pain started "a week ago" rather than four weeks ago. Even if the Commission misread the handwriting, this is immaterial since the evidence is still that the Claimant's sciatica came on "gradually" without an accident. (R, Defs Exh p. 12). Moreover, this reading requested by Claimant supports the Commission's findings because "one week" before August 13 is long after the alleged July 26 trencher accident. The McKim records reemphasize the point that the Claimant reported that his recurring sciatica had restarted gradually without the recurrence of any incident on July 26 or any other date.

### G. The Commission Did Not Abuse its Discretion in Not Setting a Hearing Before the Full Commission or in Any Discovery Matters.

Although Claimant's argument is unclear, it appears he is contending that the Industrial Commission was obligated to schedule a hearing before the full Commission because the Claimant so requested. While the Industrial Commission's Judicial Rules of Practice and Procedure allow for the full Commission to hear a claim, this is a matter of discretion for the Commission. This Court "will not supplant the views" of the Commission with its own pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard of review. *Warren v. Williams & Parsons, PC, CPAs,* \_\_\_\_\_\_ Idaho \_\_\_\_\_\_, 337 P.3d 1257, 1266 (2014). Moreover, the Claimant did not raise this issue with the Commission other than in his Response to Defendants' Request for Calendaring and the issue was therefore waived. In any event, the full Commission did not simply accept the Recommendation of the Referee but instead reviewed all of the evidence and made the decision itself.

The Claimant has also raised a claim that the Commission erred in failing to order Defendants to provide requested discovery. There is absolutely no proof that Defendants failed to provide appropriate discovery responses. There is also no proof that Claimant brought any motion before the Commission regarding that issue. Accordingly, this issue was also waived. More importantly, evidentiary issues are governed under an abuse of discretion standard, *Warren, supra,* 337 P.3d at 1264, and there is no suggestion that the Commission abused its discretion in any discovery matters.

### H. Defendants are Entitled to an Award of Fees Under Idaho Appellate Rule 11.2.

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